
Worcestershire County Council 

Agenda
Planning and Regulatory 
Committee

Tuesday, 22 October 2019, 10.00 am
County Hall, Worcester
Notes:
Councillors are advised that letters of representation received from local residents in respect 
of the planning applications on this agenda will be available for inspection in the Member 
Support Unit 3 days before the Committee and in the meeting room from 9.30am on the day of 
the meeting

Planning Officers are available for up to 30 minutes prior to the start of the meeting to enable 
Councillors and the public to ask questions about the applications to be considered.  This is 
not a part of the meeting itself but is an informal opportunity for anyone present on the day to 
clarify factual details about the applications, examine background documents and view plans 
that are on display

This document can be provided in alternative formats such as Large Print, an audio recording 
or Braille; it can also be emailed as a Microsoft Word attachment. Please contact Democratic 

Services on telephone number 01905 846621 or by emailing 
democraticservices@worcestershire.gov.uk 

Find out more online:
www.worcestershire.gov.uk



DISCLOSING INTERESTS

There are now 2 types of interests:
'Disclosable pecuniary interests' and 'other disclosable interests'

WHAT IS A 'DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTEREST' (DPI)?

 Any employment, office, trade or vocation carried on for profit or gain 
 Sponsorship by a 3rd party of your member or election expenses
 Any contract for goods, services or works between the Council and you, a firm where 

you are a partner/director, or company in which you hold shares
 Interests in land in Worcestershire (including licence to occupy for a month or longer)
 Shares etc (with either a total nominal value above £25,000 or 1% of the total issued 

share capital) in companies with a place of business or land in Worcestershire.

      NB Your DPIs include the interests of your spouse/partner as well as you

WHAT MUST I DO WITH A DPI?
 Register it within 28 days and 
 Declare it where you have a DPI in a matter at a particular meeting 

- you must not participate and you must withdraw.
      NB It is a criminal offence to participate in matters in which you have a DPI

WHAT ABOUT 'OTHER DISCLOSABLE INTERESTS'?
 No need to register them but
 You must declare them at a particular meeting where:

 You/your family/person or body with whom you are associated have 
a pecuniary interest in or close connection with the matter under discussion.

WHAT ABOUT MEMBERSHIP OF ANOTHER AUTHORITY OR PUBLIC BODY?
You will not normally even need to declare this as an interest. The only exception is where the 
conflict of interest is so significant it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public 
interest.

DO I HAVE TO WITHDRAW IF I HAVE A DISCLOSABLE INTEREST WHICH ISN'T A DPI?
Not normally. You must withdraw only if it:

 affects your pecuniary interests OR 
relates to a planning or regulatory matter

 AND it is seen as likely to prejudice your judgement of the public interest.

DON'T FORGET
 If you have a disclosable interest at a meeting you must disclose both its existence 

and nature – 'as noted/recorded' is insufficient   
 Declarations must relate to specific business on the agenda 

- General scattergun declarations are not needed and achieve little
 Breaches of most of the DPI provisions are now criminal offences which may be 

referred to the police which can on conviction by a court lead to fines up to £5,000 
and disqualification up to 5 years

  Formal dispensation in respect of interests can be sought in appropriate cases.

Simon Mallinson Head of Legal and Democratic Services July 2012       WCC/SPM summary/f



Agenda produced and published by Simon Mallinson, Head of Legal and Democratic Services, County Hall, 
Spetchley Road, Worcester WR5 2NP

To obtain further information or a copy of this agenda, contact Simon Lewis, Committee Officer.  Telephone 
Worcester (01905) (846621) 
email: slewis@worcestershire.gov.uk

All the above reports and supporting information can be accessed via the Council’s website 

Date of Issue: Friday, 11 October 2019

Planning and Regulatory Committee
Tuesday, 22 October 2019, 10.00 am, County Hall, Worcester

Councillors: Mr R C Adams (Chairman), Ms P Agar, Mr R M Bennett, 
Mr G R Brookes, Mr P Denham, Mr A Fry, Mr I D Hardiman, 
Mr P B Harrison, Mrs A T Hingley, Dr C Hotham, Mr J A D O'Donnell, 
Mrs J A Potter, Prof J W Raine, Mr C Rogers and Mr P A Tuthill

Agenda

Item No Subject Page No

1 Named Substitutes

2 Apologies/Declarations of Interest

3 Public Participation
The Council has put in place arrangements which usually allow one 
speaker each on behalf of objectors, the applicant and supporters of 
applications to address the Committee.  Speakers are chosen from 
those who have made written representations and expressed a desire to 
speak at the time an application is advertised.  Where there are 
speakers, presentations are made as part of the consideration of each 
application.

4 Confirmation of Minutes
To confirm the Minutes of the meeting held on 9 July 2019. (previously 
circulated – pink pages)

5 Planning Application made under Section 73 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to vary condition 2 of 
planning permission: 14/000045/CM "Proposed extension to 
existing Waste Transfer Station Building" to amend the design of 
the building extension and omission of the proposed  2 metre high 
wall at Digaway and Clearaway Ltd, Grove House Yard, Tewkesbury 
Road, Upton-Upon-Severn, Worcestershire

1 - 28

6 Proposed change of use from C2 former Children's home to D1 
non-residential institution (family contact) and B1 business  
(office), the construction of nine additional car parking spaces, one 
motorcycle space and installation of a bike shelter at 45 Downsell 
Road, Redditch, Worcestershire

29 - 50

mailto:slewis@worcestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 5
 

Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
22 OCTOBER 2019

PLANNING APPLICATION MADE UNDER SECTION 73 OF 
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING ACT 1990 (AS 
AMENDED) TO VARY CONDITION 2 OF PLANNING 
PERMISSION: 14/000045/CM "PROPOSED EXTENSION TO 
EXISTING WASTE TRANSFER STATION BUILDING" TO 
AMEND THE DESIGN OF THE BUILDING EXTENSION AND 
OMISSION OF THE PROPOSED 2 METRE HIGH WALL AT 
DIGAWAY AND CLEARAWAY LTD, GROVE HOUSE YARD, 
TEWKESBURY ROAD, UPTON-UPON-SEVERN, 
WORCESTERSHIRE

Applicant
Digaway and Clearaway Ltd

Local Member
Mr P Middlebrough

Purpose of Report

1. To consider a County Matter planning application made under Section 73 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to vary condition 2 of planning 
permission: 14/000045/CM "Proposed extension to existing Waste Transfer Station 
building" to amend the design of the building extension and omission of the proposed 
2 metre high wall at Digaway and Clearaway Ltd, Grove House Yard, Tewkesbury 
Road, Upton-upon-Severn, Worcestershire.

Background

Planning History 
2. Grove House Yard has a history of mixed commercial and industrial uses. The yard 
was mainly used as a haulage and distribution depot from the early 1950s and has a 
number of uses operating from the site including a workshop and garage, motorcycle 
business, car sales, accommodation for hauliers, and small commercial units and a 
ready mix concrete batching plant.

3. The Planning and Regulatory Committee granted planning permission for the 
existing Waste Transfer Station in May 2012 (County Planning Authority Ref: 
11/000060/CM, Minute no. 775 refers). Since then Digaway and Cleanaway applied 
for planning permission in November 2014 to extend the existing Waste Transfer 
Station building at the site. The rational for this extension was because they had 
become highly successful due to a very high demand for waste management services 

Page 1



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

and a low supply of such operators locally. As a result, the existing building was not of 
a sufficient size to allow all waste transfer operations, including, sorting, storing, 
loading and unloading to be undertaken within the building which had meant that 
storage of materials and waste transfer operations had been occurring outside of the 
building. This was in breach of conditions 5 and 20 of the extant planning permission 
11/000060/CM which relate to waste transfer operations only taking place within the 
building and storage of materials, (including wastes and processed materials) except 
empty skips, goods or equipment on the site, respectively. 

4. In order to regularise this breach of planning control, the applicant applied to 
extend the existing building in order to provide a larger covered area within which the 
waste transfer activities would be carried out. The Planning and Regulatory 
Committee subsequently granted planning permission for the extension of an existing 
Waste Transfer Station building in May 2015 (County Planning Authority Ref: 
14/000045/CM, Minute no. 907 refers). 

5. In September 2016 Members of the Planning and Regulatory Committee refused to 
grant planning permission for a proposed extension of the yard associated with the 
existing Waste Transfer Station at Grove House Yard (County Planning Authority Ref: 
16/000002/CM, Minute No. 953 refers). This application sought to extend the existing 
yard area eastwards into the agricultural land. The yard extension was proposed to 
accommodate car parking for staff, relocated weighbridge, empty skip storage, and 
external storage of inert wastes. A new concrete section of access road together with 
gates was also proposed to aid vehicle circulation. Planning permission was refused 
on the following grounds:

 The proposal was considered to be an unacceptable location contrary to Policy 
WCS 6 of the Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy; and

 The proposal was considered to have an unacceptable impact upon the open 
countryside, a core principle of the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF), as set out at paragraph 17, bullet point 5, Policy WCS 12 of the 
Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 25 of 
the South Worcestershire Development Plan. 

6. The applicant appealed the decision and in May 2017, following a hearing held on 
26 April 2017 the Planning Inspectorate dismissed the appeal (Appeal Ref: 
APP/E1855/W/16/3164484). 

7. In June 2018, Malvern Hills District Council granted planning permission for a 
proposed extension of existing commercial yard to provide car parking and access 
road with landscaping at the site (District Council Ref: 18/00087/FUL). This includes 
car parking for 30 vehicles, provision of a new internal access road and landscaping. 
This related to a substantially similar area of land as Appeal Ref: 
APP/E1855/W/16/3164484, but included less hardstanding and no outside storage of 
waste material. Given the nature of the works, relating to parking and access 
associated with the wider commercial and industrial yard, it was considered Malvern 
Hills District Council were the correct authority to deal with this application. 

8. Relevant to the above application was the Enforcement Notice issued by Malvern 
Hills District Council in November 2016 (Malvern Hills District Council Ref: 
E/15/00084/EAP), and subsequent appeal dated 17 July 2017(Enforcement Appeal 
Ref: APP/J1860/C/16/3168230), which related to the laying of a hardstanding on 

Page 2



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

agricultural land for use as parking on the east side of Tewkesbury Road (A38). This 
land had been used unlawfully to provide overflow car parking in connection with 
Grove House Yard. The enforcement appeal was dismissed and the notice was 
upheld with a variation (amended so that the notice allowed 6 calendar months 
instead of 2 calendar months compliance period). 

The Proposal

9. The applicant states that during the construction of the development two minor 
alterations to the original design became necessary. These are amendments to the 
design of the Waste Transfer Station building extension; and the removal of a 
proposed 2 metre high wall. As such this application seeks to vary condition 2 
(approved drawings list) of planning permission 14/000045/CM, dated 26 May 2015. 
Extant condition 2 states:

10. "The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details shown on submitted drawings referenced: PL-01; PL-02; PL-03; Amended 
Site/block Plan, received by the County Planning Authority on 5 March 2015; PL- 05, 
except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission".

11. The applicant is seeking to amend this condition, so that it would reads:

12. "The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 
details shown on submitted drawings referenced: PL-01; A200 received by the 
County Planning Authority on 16 August 2019, A101, A102, A103, except where 
otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission". 

Design of the Building
13. The applicant states that "originally the proposed extension mirrored the existing 
Waste Transfer Station building with an opening in the eastern elevation. During 
construction, it was noted that circulation space on the eastern side of the building 
was limited and the decision was taken to reduce the floor area of the building. This 
was achieved by removing the south-eastern corner to create a splay. In addition, the 
opening to the building was relocated onto the splayed south-eastern elevation which 
provides more convenient ingress and egress to the building. All other aspects of the 
building are in accordance with the previously approved details".

14. The approved building extension measured approximately 20 metres wide, by 30 
metres long, by approximately 9.6 metres in high. The amended building also 
measures approximately 20 metres wide, by a maximum of 30 metres long, by 9.6 
metres high, but with the south-eastern corner of the building being reduced by 
approximately 18 square metres.

2 Metre High Wall
15. The applicant is seeking to remove the requirement to construct a 2 metre high 
screen wall which was depicted on approved Amended Site/Block Plan within the 
yard to the south of the Waste Transfer Station building extension. The applicant 
states that "to construct a wall in this location would significantly limit the useable 
space within the yard to the detriment of the operational arrangements of the 
business. It is unclear why this wall was proposed in this location and may have been 
a drafting error. To construct a wall in this position would create a significant area of 

Page 3



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

unusable 'dead space' between the new wall and the existing boundary wall. It is 
illogical to create unusable space within a yard that is already limited in terms of the 
space available for storage and circulation". 

16. The applicant is proposing a closed board acoustic fence, measuring 
approximately 2 metres high to be located to the south and west of the Waste 
Transfer Station building extension. 

The Site

17. The application site measures approximately 0.35 hectares in area and is located 
about 240 metres north of Ryall village and approximately 1.1 kilometres north-east of 
Upton-upon-Severn in a predominantly rural setting. The application site is located 
within a small commercial and industrial yard along the eastern side of Tewkesbury 
Road (A38). The commercial and industrial yard comprises a ready mix concrete 
plant to the north; and a workshop and garage, specialist motorcycle enterprise and 
car sales business in the western part of the yard. At the southern end of the yard are 
offices, two commercial business units, a glass and glazing company, a tyre and 
battery enterprise and two motor repair businesses.

18. The industrial estate is surrounded by agricultural land which bounds the 
application site to the east.   

19. Access to the site is gained via the existing access off Tewkesbury Road (A38). 
There are two Public Rights of Ways located in close proximity to the site. Footpath 
RP-512 is sited approximately 285 metres east of the application site and Footpath 
RP-513 is sited about 300 metres south-east of the site. The application site is visible 
from these Public Rights of Ways.

20. The application site is located approximately 370 metres west of the Smithmoor 
Common and Meadows Local Wildlife Site (LWS), and approximately 800 metres 
north-east of the River Severn LWS. The application site is also located 
approximately 850 metres north-east of the Upton Ham Site of Special Scientific 
Interest (SSSI), and about 1 kilometre south-east of Earl's Croome Meadow SSSI.

21. The whole of the application site falls within Flood Zone 1, which has a low 
probability of flood risk.

22. The nearest residential properties to the application site are Grove House, which 
is sited immediately adjacent to the application site and approximately 15 metres 
south-west of the Waste Transfer Station building extension. A row of 6 flats are 
located approximately 25 metres directly south of the Waste Transfer Station building 
extension within the commercial and industrial yard. It is understood these are 
provided for the driver's associated with the adjacent commercial units. The dwelling 
of the Willows is sited approximately 70 metres south of the application site. There 
are further residential properties situated along Ryall Grove, which is located about 
240 metres south of the application site, beyond agricultural land.

Summary of Issues

23. The main issues in the determination of this application are:

Page 4



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

 Landscape Character and Visual Impacts 
 Residential Amenity. 

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
24. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was published on 19 
February 2019 and replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012 and July 
2018. On the 19 June 2019 the revised NPPF was updated to include a correction 
slip to remove paragraph 209a relating to on-shore oil and gas development, 
following the Secretary of State for Housing, Communities and Local Government 
issuing a Ministerial Statement on 23 May 2019 due to the outcome of a legal 
judgment. The NPPF sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied. The revised NPPF is a material consideration 
in planning decisions and should be read as a whole (including its footnotes and 
annexes). 

25. The NPPF should be read in conjunction with the Government’s planning policy 
for waste (National Planning Policy for Waste). Annex 1 of the NPPF states that "the 
policies in this Framework are material considerations which should be taken into 
account in dealing with applications from the day of its publication". 

26. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development. Achieving sustainable development means 
that the planning system has three overarching objectives (economic, social and 
environmental), which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each 
of the different objectives):

 an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

 a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet 
the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed 
and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect 
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural 
well-being; and 

 an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, 
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including 
moving to a low carbon economy. 

27. These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the NPPF; they are not 
criteria against which every decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and 
decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable 

Page 5



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the 
character, needs and opportunities of each area. 

28. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the 
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision-taking this 
means: 

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

o the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

29. The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. 
Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including 
any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission should 
not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart from 
an up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

30. The following guidance contained in the NPPF, is considered to be of specific 
relevance to the determination of this planning application:

 Section 2: Achieving sustainable development 
 Section 4: Decision-making
 Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
 Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport 
 Section 11: Making effective use of land
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change
 Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment
 Section 16: Conserving and enhancing the historic environment 

National Planning Policy for Waste
31. The National Planning Policy for Waste was published on 16 October 2014 and 
replaces "Planning Policy Statement 10 (PPS 10): Planning for Sustainable Waste 
Management" as the national planning policy for waste in England. The document 
sets out detailed waste planning policies, and should be read in conjunction with the 
NPPF, the Waste Management Plan for England and National Policy Statements for 
Waste Water and Hazardous Waste, or any successor documents. All local planning 

Page 6



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

authorities should have regard to its policies when discharging their responsibilities to 
the extent that they are appropriate to waste management.

Chief Planning Officer Letter - Green Belt protection and intentional 
unauthorised development (31 August 2015)
32. This letter sets out changes to national planning policy to make intentional 
unauthorised development a material consideration, and also to provide stronger 
protection for the Green Belt. 

The Development Plan 
33. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use planning 
for the area. In this respect the current Development Plan that is relevant to this 
proposal consists of the Adopted Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy Development 
Plan Document and the Adopted South Worcestershire Development Plan. 

34. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
is a material consideration in planning decisions.

35. With regard to the weight to be given to existing policies adopted prior to the 
publication of the revised NPPF, Annex 1 states "existing policies should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or made prior to the 
publication of this Framework. Due weight should be given to them, according to their 
degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)". 

Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy Development Plan Document (WCS)
Policy WCS 1: Presumption in favour of sustainable development
Policy WCS 2: Enabling Waste Management Capacity
Policy WCS 3: Re-use and Recycling
Policy WCS 6: Compatible land uses 
Policy WCS 8: Site infrastructure and access 
Policy WCS 9: Environmental assets 
Policy WCS 10: Flood risk and water resources 
Policy WCS 11: Sustainable design and operation of facilities
Policy WCS 12: Local characteristics
Policy WCS 14: Amenity
Policy WCS 15: Social and economic benefits

South Worcestershire Development Plan 
36. The South Worcestershire Development Plan (SWDP) covers the administrative 
areas of Worcester City Council, Wychavon District Council and Malvern Hills District 
Council. The SWDP policies that are of relevance to the proposal are set out below:-

Policy SWDP 1: Overarching Sustainable Development Principles
Policy SWDP 2: Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy 
Policy SWDP 3: Employment, Housing and Retail Provision Requirement and 
Delivery
Policy SWDP 4: Moving Around South Worcestershire 
Policy SWDP 8: Providing the Right Land and Buildings for Jobs
Policy SWDP 12: Employment in Rural Areas
Policy SWDP 21: Design

Page 7



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

Policy SWDP 22: Biodiversity and Geodiversity
Policy SWDP 25: Landscape Character
Policy SWDP 28: Management of Flood Risk
Policy SWDP 29: Sustainable Drainage Systems 
Policy SWDP 30: Water Resources, Efficiency and Treatment
Policy SWDP 31: Pollution and Land Instability

Other Documents 

Our Waste, Our Resources: A Strategy for England (2018)
37. This Strategy is the first significant government statement in relation to waste 
management since the 2011 Waste Review and the subsequent Waste Prevention 
Programme 2013 for England. It builds on this earlier work, but also sets out new 
approaches to long-standing issues like waste crime, and to challenging problems 
such as packaging waste and plastic pollution. The Strategy is guided by two 
overarching objectives: 

 To maximise the value of resource use; and 
 To minimise waste and its impact on the environment. 

38. The Strategy sets five strategic ambitions: 

 To work towards all plastic packaging placed on the market being recyclable, 
reusable or compostable by 2025; 

 To work towards eliminating food waste to landfill by 2030; 
 To eliminate avoidable plastic waste over the lifetime of the 25 Year 

Environment Plan; 
 To double resource productivity by 2050; and 
 To eliminate avoidable waste of all kinds by 2050. 

39. It contains 8 chapters which address: sustainable production; helping consumers 
take more considered action;  recovering resources and managing waste; tackling 
waste crime; cutting down on food waste; global Britain: international leadership; 
research and innovation; and measuring progress: data, monitoring and evaluation. 
Chapter 3 – 'Resource Recovery and Waste Management' is the most relevant 
chapter to this proposal. 

40. This states that whilst recycling rates in construction have improved since 2000, 
from 2013 onwards recycling rates have plateaued. The government wishes to drive 
better quantity and quality in recycling and more investment in domestic recycled 
materials markets. The government wants to promote UK-based recycling and export 
less waste to be processed abroad. The government wish to:

 Improve recycling rates by ensuring a consistent set of dry recyclable 
materials is collected from all households and businesses;

 Reduce greenhouse gas emissions from landfill by ensuring that every 
householder and appropriate businesses have a weekly separate food waste 
collection, subject to consultation;

 Improve urban recycling rates, working with business and local authorities; 
 Improve working arrangements and performance between local authorities; 

Page 8



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

 Drive greater efficiency of Energy from Waste (EfW) plants; 
 Address information barriers to the use of secondary materials; and 
 Encourage waste producers and managers to implement the waste hierarchy 

in respect to hazardous waste.

Waste Management Plan for England (2013)
41. The Government through Defra published the Waste Management Plan for 
England in December 2013. This Plan superseded the previous waste management 
plan for England, which was set out in the Waste Strategy for England 2007.

42. There are comprehensive waste management policies in England, which taken 
together deliver the objectives of the revised Waste Framework Directive, therefore, it 
is not the intention of the Plan to introduce new policies or to change the landscape of 
how waste is managed in England. Its core aim is to bring current waste management 
policies under the umbrella of one national plan. 

43. This Plan is a high level document which is non-site specific, and is a waste 
management, rather than a waste planning document. It provides an analysis of the 
current waste management situation in England, and evaluates how it will support 
implementation of the objectives and provisions of the revised Waste Framework 
Directive. 

44. The key aim of this Plan is to work towards a zero waste economy as part of the 
transition to a sustainable economy. In particular, this means using the “waste 
hierarchy” (waste prevention, re-use, recycling, recovery and finally disposal as a last 
option) as a guide to sustainable waste management.

The Government Review of Waste Policy England 2011
45. The Government Review of Waste Policy in England 2011 seeks to move 
towards a green, zero waste economy, where waste is driven up the waste hierarchy. 
The waste hierarchy gives top priority to waste prevention, followed by preparing for 
re-use, recycling, other types of recovery (including energy recovery) and last of all 
disposal.

Consultations

46. Local County Councillor Mr Paul Middlebrough objects to the proposal, stating 
that a screen wall measuring approximately 2 metres high is the only means of giving 
the nearby residents any significant protection from noise and dust. The proposed 
fence is not a sustainable solution compared to a solid wall. The rationale for seeking 
to avoid unusable 'dead space' is primarily an operational matter. Perhaps the dead 
space issue should have been thought about by the applicant before proceeding with 
the scheme. 

47. Earls Croome Parish Council objects to the proposed removal of the 
requirement to construct the 2 metre high screen wall. The Parish Council state that 
the alteration to the building has already been carried out and the doorway is now 
placed across the south-east corner of the building. The Parish Council consider that 
this alteration gives the residents of the flats facing the southern end of the building 
more exposure to dust, noise and pollution which would occur when the doorway is in 
constant use. For this reason the Parish Council consider that the inclusion of the 2 

Page 9



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

metre high wall is necessary to give these residents maximum protection and object 
to it being omitted.

48. Following amended details of the proposed acoustic fencing being submitted, 
Earls Croome Parish Council commented that it is only a wooden fence with an 
acoustic rating of 28 dBA, which would do very little to offer any protection from noise 
from this type of industrial building or noise from the vehicles driving in and out of the 
building. Furthermore, a wooden fence will be easily damaged and have a very short 
life. Only a brick wall measuring approximately 2 metres would give the type of 
protection needed for the residents of the adjacent flats from the noise and pollution 
from this building.

49. Ripple Parish Council (Neighbouring Parish Council) have made no 
comments. 

50. Malvern Hills District Council have no objections to the proposal, subject to the 
imposition of the relevant extant conditions, together with any additional conditions 
that are considered necessary to make the development acceptable in planning 
terms. The District Council request that careful consideration is given to noise impacts 
and highway implications of this application. 

51. The District Council comments that they understand that the extant planning 
permission was lawfully implemented and the relevant pre-commencement conditions 
have been discharged. However, the County Planning Authority should be satisfied 
that this is indeed the case.  

52. The District Council considers that the proposed alternations to the building would 
have a similar wider visual impact as the previously approved scheme and, therefore, 
consider it would be acceptable and accords with Policies SWDP 21 and SWDP 25 of 
the South Worcestershire development Plan. 

53. With regard to the removal of the proposed 2 metre high wall and proposed 
acoustic fence in an alternative position. The District Council comments that 
residential properties are located to the west and south of the application site and the 
revised proposals would allow for a large external storage area to south of the 
building and proposed extension. No updated noise assessment has been submitted 
with the application to assess the likely impact of the development. However, the 
District Council understand that Worcestershire Regulatory Services have not 
requested such an update and are content that, subject to the imposition of conditions 
relating to the specification of the noise barrier, the proposal would not have a 
detrimental impact upon the amenities of nearby residential properties. The County 
Planning Authority must be satisfied that the proposed development would not result 
in unacceptable noise and disturbance to residential properties and that this can be 
adequately mitigated in accordance with Policy SWDP 31 of the South 
Worcestershire Development Plan.

54. The District Council also recommends that County Highways are consulted on 
this application.

55. The Environment Agency have no objections to the proposal and recommends 
that the County Planning Authority consults Worcestershire Regulatory Services in 
respect of noise impacts and the proposed acoustic mitigation. 

Page 10



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

56. The Environment Agency also confirm that the site benefits from a Standard 
Rules Environmental Permit, which regulates and controls matters such as the 
general management of the site and permitted activities; waste acceptance, including 
quantity; emissions, including odour, noise and vibration; and monitoring, records and 
reporting. 

57. Worcestershire Regulatory Services (Noise, Dust and Odour) have no 
objections to the application, stating that they do not consider that the amended 
Waste Transfer Station building extension design would lead to an adverse impact at 
the closest noise sensitive receptor, assuming that the high speed roller shutter door 
remains closed except for ingress and egress.  

58. With regard to the removal of the requirement to construct a wall measuring 
approximately 2 metres high and the proposed installation of acoustic fencing. 
Worcestershire Regulatory Services have confirmed that the proposed fencing is 
acceptable in terms of its specification and extent and, therefore, has no objections to 
the proposal. 

59. With regard to the acoustic performance of the proposed fence, Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services have confirmed that as the fence would have a surface density 
greater than 15kg/m2 (it would be 25kg/m2) it would acoustically perform marginally 
better than a wall. 

60. South Worcestershire Land Drainage Partnership have made no comments. 

61. Lead Local Flood Authority have no objections to the application. 

62. Severn Trent Water Limited have no objections to the application. 

63. The County Highways Officer has no objections to the application. 

64. The Campaign to Protect Rural England (CPRE) have made no comments. 

65. The County Landscape Officer has no objections to the application. 

66. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust have no objections, stating that they do not 
consider the changes have a significant impact in relation to ecology and biodiversity 
and wish to defer to the County Ecologist for all on-site detailed ecological 
considerations. 

67. The County Ecologist has no objections to the application. 

68. West Mercia Police have made no comments. 

69. Hereford and Worcester Fire and Rescue have made no comments. 

Other Representations

70. The application has been advertised on site, in the press and by neighbour 
notification. To date, 2 letters of representation objecting to the application have been 

Page 11



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

received from Grove Residents Reclaiming Altogether a Tranquil Environment 
(GRRAATE). These letters of representation are available in the Members' Support 
Unit. Their main comments are summarised below: 

 The residents do not agree to any alteration to the original planning application 
County Planning Authority Ref: 14/000045/CM, either to the size of the design 
of the building, or the omission of the 2 metre high wall 

 The application form is incorrectly completed as the site is visible form Public 
Rights of Way and is clearly visible from Strensham Road 

 Following approval of the original application the situation for residents of Ryall 
Grove has deteriorated. Mounds of soil, hardcore, wood and plaster board are 
regularly crushed and stored on the open yard. Dust settles all over local 
residents' properties and vehicles in the vicinity of the application site. These 
actions are not permitted by conditions 12 or 14 of the extant planning 
permission  

 Condition 4 of the extant planning permission states that no machinery or 
equipment shall operate on the site outside the stipulated hours. This has 
happened on numerous occasions and has been raised with the Planning 
Monitoring and Enforcement Officer, with no successful sanction has been 
taken by Worcestershire County Council 

 Condition 6 of the extant planning permission states all waste transfer 
operations including sorting, loading, unloading of vehicles and storage of 
waste shall only take place within the approved building. This is not the case 
and has never been complied with 

 Continued dust emissions emanating from the site. A letter has been sent to 
the Environment Agency with photographs showing dust in the atmosphere, 
which cannot be contained within the site 

 Question when and by whom was permission granted for the sorting and 
crushing of hardcore on site. 

The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy's Comments

71. As with any planning application, this application should be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant policies and key issues have been set 
out earlier. 

Landscape Character and Visual Impacts 
72. The original report to committee (County Planning Authority Ref: 14/000045/CM) 
considered the development in respect of landscape character and concluded that 
"although, the proposed development would be visible from public view, given that the 
proposed development would be sited in the centre of an existing small industrial 
estate and would not exceed the height of the buildings and structures already sited 
there, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal 
would not have any adverse impact on the landscape character of the area". 

73. It is noted that extant condition 6 requires all the waste transfer operations 
including sorting, loading / unloading of vehicles and storage of waste shall only take 
place within the approved building. Extant condition 7 requires all doors to the 
building shall be kept closed except to allow entry and exit; and extant condition 14 
requires no outside storage of materials (including wastes and processed materials) 

Page 12



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

goods or equipment except empty skips, which shall only be stored in the storage 
area immediately to the north-east of the Waste Transfer Station building. 

74. The retrospective amendment to the Waste Transfer Station building extension 
seeks to regularise the form of the building, which differs to the approved plan, in that 
the south-eastern corner of the building has been 'sliced off', reducing its footprint, 
and relocating the opening and proposed roller shutter door into this location.

75. The Waste Transfer Station extension building is located within the confines of the 
existing commercial and industrial yard, and this building and its amendment would 
be seen in the context of the existing Waste Transfer Station building and site. It is 
noted that extant condition 3 required details of the external materials and finishes of 
the Waste Transfer Station building extension to be approved by the County Planning 
Authority. The materials that were approved and that have been installed match the 
original Waste Transfer Station Building (County Planning Authority Ref: 
11/000060/CM). 

76. This application also seeks to remove the proposed 2 metre high screen wall. The 
applicant states that "to construct a wall in this location would significantly limit the 
useable space within the yard to the detriment of the operational arrangements of the 
business. It is unclear why this wall was proposed in this location and may have been 
a drafting error". 

77. It is noted that a 2 metre high screen wall was proposed in the same location on 
the approved Site / Block Plan for planning permission 11/000060/CM. This also 
included strip planting immediately beyond the wall, between the proposed wall and 
the existing concrete panel fence / wall which measures approximately 1.5 metres 
high. 

78. It is also noted that the report to committee in respect of planning permission 
14/000045/CM stated: "although screening is not proposed by the applicant on the 
eastern boundary of the site as requested by a local resident, the applicant proposes 
to retain a 2 metre high screen wall on the southern boundary of the site, to screen 
the proposed development from the residential flats sited directly south of the 
proposed extension. The applicant states that there is no opportunity for structural 
landscaping within the site". 

79. In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers that 
the 2 metre high screen wall was likely originally proposed by the applicant as a 
visual screen. 

80. Since then, the applicant has installed a palisade fence, measuring approximately 
1.8 metres high in a similar alignment to the proposed screen wall, but closer to the 
existing concrete panel fence / wall. The applicant is proposing to install an acoustic 
closed boarded fence measuring approximately 2 metres high, which would be 
located immediately in front of the palisade fence to the south and west of the Waste 
Transfer Station building extension.  

81. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy notes that the removal of the 
requirement for the proposed screen wall would provide a larger useable space within 
the yard for the applicant, and it is considered that the installation of acoustic closed 

Page 13



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

boarded fencing in this location would have the same visual screening effect as a 
proposed 2 metre high screen wall. 

82. The County Landscape Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections 
to this application. Malvern Hills District Council has no objections to the proposal, 
subject to the imposition of the relevant extant conditions. The District Council 
considers that the proposed alternations to the building would have a similar wider 
visual impact as the previously approved scheme. With regard to the fencing, they 
note that the revised proposals would allow for a large external storage area to south 
of the building and proposed extension. Extant condition 14 restricts external storage 
to only skips in an area adjacent to the north-east of the Waste Transfer Station 
building. The applicant has not applied to remove or amend this condition to allow 
storage to the south of the Waste Transfer Station extension building. In view of this, 
it is considered prudent to impose the extant condition restricting storage and the 
location of empty skips. 

83. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is 
satisfied that this application would not have an adverse or detrimental impact upon 
the character and appearance of the local area, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate extant conditions. 

Residential Amenity
84. The original report to committee (County Planning Authority Ref: 14/000045/CM) 
considered the development in respect of residential amenity and concluded that 
"given that all the site operations would be carried out within the building and given 
the size, siting and design of the building and associated site screening, the Head of 
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal would not have 
any significant detrimental impact on the amenities of the neighbouring residential 
properties".  

85. It is noted that the Noise Assessment originally submitted with planning 
permission 14/000045/CM did not make reference or appear to take account of the 
proposed screen wall, and it concluded that "there is likely to be a low impact on the 
surrounding residents".

86. Earls Croome Parish Council objects to the proposed removal of the requirement 
to construct the 2 metre high screen wall. The Parish Council considers that the 
alteration to the building extension gives the residents of the flats facing the southern 
end of the building more exposure to dust, noise and pollution. For this reason the 
Parish Council considers that the inclusion of the 2 metre high wall is necessary to 
give these residents maximum protection and object to it being omitted. County 
Councillor Middlebrough also objects to the removal of the screen wall on the basis of 
providing maximum protection to local residents from noise and dust emissions. 

87. The Environment Agency have no objections to the proposal and recommends 
that the County Planning Authority consults Worcestershire Regulatory Services in 
respect of noise impacts of the development and confirms that the site benefits from 
an existing Standard Rules Environmental Permit.

88. Worcestershire Regulatory Services have been consulted have no objections to 
the application on noise or dust grounds, and consider the proposed acoustic fence is 
acceptable stating that it would acoustically perform marginally better than a wall. In 

Page 14



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

view of this, it is recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the installation 
of the proposed acoustic fencing. 

89. The primary environmental controls over the proposed operation would be 
contained within the Environment Agency's Standard Rules Environmental Permit for 
the site. It is noted that paragraph 183 of the NPPF states that "the focus of planning 
policies and decisions should be on whether proposed development is an acceptable 
use of land, rather than the control of processes or emissions (where these are 
subject to separate pollution control regimes). Planning decisions should assume that 
these regimes will operate effectively". Paragraph Reference ID: 28-050-20141016 of 
the Government PPG elaborates on this matter, stating that "there exist a number of 
issues which are covered by other regulatory regimes and waste planning authorities 
should assume that these regimes will operate effectively. The focus of the planning 
system should be on whether the development itself is an acceptable use of the land 
and the impacts of those uses, rather than any control processes, health and safety 
issues or emissions themselves where these are subject to approval under other 
regimes. However, before granting planning permission they will need to be satisfied 
that these issues can or will be adequately addressed by taking the advice from the 
relevant regulatory body".

90. It is noted that the extant condition 4 requires operations shall only take place on 
the site between 07:30 and 18:00 hours Mondays to Fridays, 07:30 to 13:00 hours on 
Saturdays and not at all on Sundays or Public Holidays. Extant condition 7 requires 
all doors to the building shall be kept closed except to allow entry and exit. Given the 
Waste Transfer Station extension building new opening (access) has yet to be 
installed with a door, it is recommended that a condition be imposed requiring the 
installation of a high speed roller shutter door. Extant condition 8 requires all vehicles, 
plant and machinery operating within the site to be maintained in accordance with the 
manufacturer's specifications at all times and includes the fitting and use of effective 
silencers. Extant conditions 12 and 13 restrict the crushing, screening and burning of 
waste materials on site. The applicant is not proposing to amend these conditions. It 
is also noted that extant condition 21 requires a dust management plan, details of 
which are outstanding. In view if this, it is recommended that a condition requiring a 
dust management plan be imposed on any new planning permission.   

91. Two letters of representation have been received from GRRAATE, a local 
residents action group objecting to the application. 

92. Concerns are also raised by GRRAATE that materials are stored on the open 
yard. It is understood that part of the northern yard (outside of the application site 
boundary) benefits from planning permission for open storage, granted planning 
permission by Malvern Hills District Council Ref: 98/00862/FUL, associated with the 
concrete batching plant. 

93. GRRAATE question when and by whom was permission granted for the sorting 
and crushing of hardcore on site. It understood that the applicant is constructing and 
laying a hardstanding adjacent to this application site, associated with the planning 
permission granted by Malvern Hills District Council for a proposed extension of 
existing commercial yard (District Council Ref: 18/00087/FUL). This planning 
permission does not limit the construction hours for the development. 

Page 15



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

94. Extant condition 4 restricts the operating hours of the facility, GRRAATE state that 
the applicant has breached this condition on numerous occasions. The Planning 
Monitoring and Enforcement Officer has investigated this matter but has been unable 
to substantiate the complaint. It is noted that whilst vehicles may have been observed 
at the site, the operator has confirmed that no waste management operations were 
taking place at the time, and the maintenance of machinery and vehicles takes place 
when the waste management operations cease on a Saturday. The Planning 
Monitoring and Enforcement Officer will continue to monitor the site and this matter.  

95. GRRAATE also state that there are continued dust emissions emanating from the 
site. A letter has been sent to the Environment Agency with photographs showing 
dust in the atmosphere, which cannot be contained within the site. Since the receipt 
of the letters of representation from GRRAATE, a multi-agency meeting took place in 
July 2019 with invitees including the Environment Agency, Worcestershire Regulatory 
Services and Malvern Hills District Council. Further joint meetings / site meetings are 
being arranged to investigate this matter further. 

96. It is noted that the Environment Agency in their acknowledgment letter to 
GRRAATE, which accompanied GRRAATE's letter of representation stated that 
"during the last inspection we did not identify any non-compliance of the 
Environmental Permit for the waste activities taking place at the site. However, I am 
aware that there was a stockpile of aggregate / hardcore material on site that was 
planned to be used as a base for the onsite car park. Digaway & Clearaway are 
allowed to accept inert waste materials including construction and demolition waste, 
hardcore, stones and bricks etc., and treat this material at the site under the 
Environmental Permit…With regard to the wood waste [located to the north of the 
application site] as you are aware we have investigated reports of dust from the 
loading of wood waste previously in 2016. At that time we visited the area on a 
number of occasions and also visited the site during the time when the wood waste 
was being loaded on to the lorry to be transferred off site. There was a small amount 
of dust generated by this activity, but this was localised to the area and did not appear 
to escape beyond this location. On this occasion we have not visited the site in 
response to your letter. However, I have spoken to the operator and suggested that 
measures are put in place to reduce the potential for dust to escape beyond the site 
boundary whenever waste activities are likely to increase the amount of dust 
produced and in particular when crushing inert material". 

97. In view of the above matters, based upon the advice of Worcestershire 
Regulatory Services and the Environment Agency, the Head of Strategic 
Infrastructure and Economy considers that this application would have no adverse 
noise, dust or odour impacts on residential amenity or that of human health, subject to 
the imposition of the relevant extant conditions, including a dust management plan 
and conditions requiring the installation of the proposed acoustic fencing, and high 
speed roller shutter door. 

Other Matters 
Water Environment and Flood Risk
98. The previous report (County Planning Authority Ref: 14/000045/CM) concluded 
that "subject to the imposition of a drainage condition as recommended by Severn 
Trent Water Ltd, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that 
the proposal would have no adverse impact on the water environment". Both the Lead 
Local Flood Authority and Severn Trent Water Limited have raised no objections to 

Page 16



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

the application. In view of this, it is considered that this application would not impact 
upon the water environment, subject to the imposition of the appropriate extant 
conditions.

Traffic and Highway Safety
99. Traffic and highway safety was considered in the original report to committee 
(County Planning Authority Ref: 14/000045/CM), and concluded that "the proposed 
development would not have an adverse impact on the highway safety of the local 
area". This application does not propose any amendments to the existing access 
arrangements and does not propose to amend the throughput of the site (extant 
condition 10). It is also noted that extant condition 15 requires no mud, dust, dirt or 
debris to be deposited on the public highway, and extant condition 16 does not allow 
waste materials to be accepted at the site directly from members of the public. 

100. The County Highways Officer has been consulted and has raised no objections 
to the application. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure 
and Economy is satisfied that this application would not have an unacceptable impact 
upon traffic or highway safety, subject to the imposition of the appropriate extant 
conditions.

Ecology and Biodiversity 
101. The original report to committee considered the development in respect of 
ecology and biodiversity and concluded that "subject to the imposition of conditions 
relating to protected species and site lighting, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy is satisfied that the proposal would have no adverse impact on the ecology 
and biodiversity of the local area". 

102. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust and the County Ecologist have been consulted and 
have both raised no objections to this application. In view of this, the Head of 
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that this application would not have 
an unacceptable impact upon ecology and biodiversity at the site or in the surrounding 
area, subject to the imposition of the appropriate extant conditions.

Conclusion

103. The applicant states that during the construction of the Waste Transfer Station 
building extension two minor alterations to the original design became necessary. 
These are amendments to the design of the Waste Transfer Station building 
extension, so that the south-east corner of the building is reduced in size by 
approximately 18 square metres, relocation of the roller shutter door, and the 
emissions of a proposed 2 metre high visual screen wall to the south of the building 
extension. However, the applicant is proposing a close boarded acoustic fence, 
measuring approximately 2 metres high, to be installed to the south and west of the 
extension building. As such this application seeks to vary condition 2 (approved 
drawings list) of the planning permission 14/000045/CM.

104. The applicant states that during construction, it was noted that circulation space 
on the eastern side of the building was limited and the decision was taken to reduce 
the floor area of the building and the repositioned roller shutter door opening provides 
a more convenient ingress and egress to the building. The applicant also states that 
to construct a wall to the south of the building extension would significantly limit the 

Page 17



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

useable space within the yard to the detriment of the operational arrangements of the 
business. 

105. Based on the advice of the County Landscape Officer and Malvern Hills District 
Council, it is considered that this application would not have an adverse or 
detrimental impact upon the character and appearance of the local area, subject to 
the imposition of appropriate extant conditions. 

106. Based upon the advice of Worcestershire Regulatory Services and the 
Environment Agency, it is considered that this application would have no adverse 
noise, dust or odour impacts on residential amenity or that of human health, subject to 
the imposition of the relevant extant conditions, including a dust management plan 
and conditions requiring the installation of the proposed acoustic fencing, and high 
speed roller shutter door.

107. Taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and in particular 
Policies WCS 1, WCS 2, WCS 3, WCS 6, WCS 8, WCS 9, WCS 10, WCS 11, WCS 
12, WCS 14 and WCS 15 of the Adopted Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy and 
Policies SWDP 1, SWDP 2, SWDP 3, SWDP 4, SWDP 8, SWDP 12, SWDP 21, 
SWDP 22, SWDP 25, SWDP 28, SWDP 29, SWDP 30 and SWDP 31 of the Adopted 
South Worcestershire Development Plan, it is considered the proposal would not 
cause demonstrable harm to the interests intended to be protected by these policies 
or highway safety.

Recommendation

108. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that 
planning permission be granted for the carrying-out of development pursuant 
to planning permission reference number 14/000045/CM, without complying 
with condition 2 of that permission to amend the design of the building 
extension and omission of the proposed 2 metre high wall at Digaway and 
Clearaway Ltd, Grove House Yard, Tewkesbury Road, Upton-upon-Severn, 
Worcestershire, subject to the following conditions:

Approved Plans 
a) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

details shown on submitted drawings referenced: PL-01; A200, received by 
the County Planning Authority on 16 August 2019, A101, A102, A103, except 
where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this permission; 

Materials
b) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 

'Application for Approval of Details Reserved by Condition – 14/000045/CM' 
and Appendix B Materials: titled: 'Travis Perkins';

Operating Hours
c) Operations shall only take place on the site between 07:30 to 18:00 hours 

Mondays to Fridays, 07:30 to 13:00 hours on Saturdays and not at all on 
Sundays or Public Holidays. No machinery or equipment shall operate on the 
site outside the hours;

Page 18



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

Construction Hours
d) Construction works shall only be carried out on the site between the hours of 

08:00 hours to 17:00 hours on Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 08:00 hours 
to 13:00 hours on Saturdays, with no construction work on Sundays, Bank or 
Public Holidays;

Pollution 
e) All the waste transfer operations including sorting, loading/unloading of 

vehicles and storage of waste shall only take place within the approved 
building provided for the purpose;

f) All doors to the building shall be kept closed except to allow entry and exit;

g) All vehicles, plant and machinery operating within the site shall be maintained in 
accordance with the manufacturer's specifications at all times and this shall 
include the fitting and use of effective silencers;

h) Any facilities for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals shall be sited on 
impermeable bases and surrounded by impermeable walls.  The volume of the 
bunded compound shall be at least equivalent to the capacity of the tank plus 
10%.  If there is multiple tankage, the compound shall be at least equivalent to 
the capacity of the largest tank, vessel or the combined capacity of 
interconnected tanks and vessels plus 10%.  All filling points, associated 
pipework, vents, gauges and sight glasses must be located within the bund or 
have a secondary containment.  The drainage system of the bund shall be 
sealed with no discharge to any watercourse, land or underground strata.  
Associated pipework shall be located above ground and protected from 
accidental damage.  All filling points and tank/vessels overflow pipe outlets shall 
be detailed to discharge downwards into the bund;

Throughput
i) The operator shall ensure that the amount of wastes treated at the facility hereby 

approved does not exceed more than 5,000 tonnes per year. Records shall be 
kept for the inspection by the County Planning Authority on written request of 
the amount of throughput of materials for the durations of operations on the 
site;

Waste Acceptance 
j) The operator shall ensure that only non-hazardous construction and demolition 

wastes (described as soil, rubble, concrete, brick, timber, metal, glass, plastic 
and cardboard) are accepted at the site.  Any other waste shall be quarantined 
and removed from the site forthwith to a suitably licensed treatment or disposal 
facility;

Crushing, Screening and Burning
k) No crushing or screening of waste materials shall take place on the site;

l) No materials shall be burnt on the site;

Storage 
m) Notwithstanding the submitted details, there shall be no outside storage of 

materials (including wastes and processed materials) goods or equipment 
except empty skips.  Such skips shall only be stored in the storage area marked 
on drawing titled: 'Amended Site/Block Plan', received by the County Planning 
Authority on 5 March 2015 and shall not exceed 4 metres in height. A permanent 

Page 19



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

height marker shall be provided at the skip storage area to show 4 metres from 
ground level;

Highways 
n) No mud, dust, dirt, or debris shall be deposited on the public highway;

o) No waste materials shall be accepted at the site directly from members of the 
public, and no retail sales of wastes or processed materials to members of 
the public shall take place at the site;

Drainage 
p) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with 

Planning Statement titled: 'Application for Approval of Details Reserved by 
Condition – 14/000045/CM', Appendix A: Drainage Details Drawing titled: 
'Grove Farm Waste Transfer Station Surface Water Disposal', and document 
titled: 'Grove Farm Waste Transfer Station Extension, Surface Water Disposal', 
dated March 2018;

Ecology and Biodiversity 
q) In the unlikely event that any protected species are found on the site during the 

works then all works must cease immediately and the advice of a suitably 
qualified ecologist must be sought prior to works re-commencing; 

r) The site's northern, eastern and southern boundaries should be protected 
from any additional high-powered lighting. In these areas no new lighting 
should be installed other than may be unavoidably required for health, safety 
and security; in which case details of appropriate mitigation (timers/shielding 
or cowls) should be provided for the prior approval of the County Planning 
Authority; 

Lighting 
s) The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Planning Statement titled: 'Application for Approval of Details Reserved by 
Condition – 14/000045/CM', Appendix C Lighting, and Drawings Numbered: 
PL-4 and PL-05;

Dust Management 
t) Within 3 months of the date of this permission, a detailed scheme for the 

mitigation of dust shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the County 
Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be implemented and complied 
with at all times for the duration of the development hereby permitted; 

Planning Permission 
u) A copy of this decision notice, together with all approved plans and 

documents required under the conditions of this permission shall be              
maintained at the site office at all times throughout the period of the 
development and shall be made known to any person(s) given responsibility 
for management or control of waste activities /operations on the site;

Roller Shutter Door
v) The new opening (access) in the extension building hereby approved, as 

shown between Points Z and Y on the 'East' Elevation on Drawing Number: 
A102, titled: 'Elevations' and Drawing Numbered: A101, titled: 'Floor Plan', 
shall be fitted within a high-speed roller shutter door within 3 months of the 
date of this permission; and

Page 20



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

Acoustic Fencing
w) The 2 metre high close boarded acoustic fencing, as shown on drawing 

numbered: A200, received by the County Planning Authority on 16 August 
2019, titled: Site Plan, and document titled: JAKOUSTIC – Jacksons Fencing 
shall be installed within 3 months of the date of this permission and shall be 
maintained for the duration of the development hereby approved.

Contact Points

County Council Contact Points
County Council: 01905 763763
Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765

Specific Contact Points for this report
Case Officer: Steven Aldridge, Team Manager – Development Management 
Tel: 01905 843510
Email: saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk  

Background Papers

In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this 
report: 
The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference: 19/000016/CM. 

Page 21

mailto:saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



Smithmoor 
Common & 
Meadows LWS 

The Site 

Ryall 

Existing 
Access 

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Existing  
Access 

The Site 

The Willows 

Grove 
House 

Existing Waste Transfer 
Station Building. Ref: 
11/000060/CM 

Concrete 
Batching Plant 

Residential Flats 

Garage & 
Car Sales 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Ground Floor

0

T.O.P. S1

7882

EX AXYZ EX B EX C EX D

T.O.P. S2

9658

PROPOSED EXTENSION EXISTING BUILDING

New cladding to match existing in Kingsapn XK Forte pre 
painted panels in goosewing grey

Ground Floor

0

T.O.P. S1

7882

123456

T.O.P. S2

9658

Ground Floor

0

T.O.P. S1

7882

1 2 3 4 5 6

T.O.P. S2

9658

Ground Floor

0

T.O.P. S1

7882

EX A X Y ZEX BEX CEX D

T.O.P. S2

9658

EXISTING BUILDING PROPOSED EXTENSION

CLIENT

PROJECT

DRAWING

SCALE

DATE

FILE

DRAWING NO

REVISION
COPYRIGHT OF ARCHITECT DO NOT SCALE FROM DRAWING

1 : 100

Digaway Clearaway Limited

Extension to Existing Waste Transfer Station

Elevations

03/28/19

A102

1908

1 : 100

East

1 : 100

North 1 : 100

South

1 : 100

West

Revision Date Description

New cladding to match existing in Kingsapn 
XK Forte pre painted panels in goosewing grey

Lower walls: reinforced precast concrete 
panels with brick facing to the North South 
and East Elevations

Roof to match existing with Kingspan XL 
Forte pre painted panels in Goosewing Grey

Fire escape door

Hi speed roller 
shutter door 
colour GreyFire escape door

Fire escape door

Fire escape door

Window to sky lights to bays  to match 
existing

New internal gutters to match exisitng

Roof pitch to match existing

New cladding to match existing in Kingsapn XK Forte pre 
painted panels in goosewing grey

P
age 27



T
his page is intentionally left blank



AGENDA ITEM 6
 

Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

PLANNING AND REGULATORY COMMITTEE
22 OCTOBER 2019

PROPOSED CHANGE OF USE FROM FORMER 
CHILDREN'S HOME (USE CLASS C1) TO FAMILY 
CONTACT (USE CLASS D1) AND OFFICE (USE CLASS B1), 
THE CONSTRUCTION OF NINE ADDITIONAL CAR 
PARKING SPACES, ONE MOTORCYCLE SPACE AND 
INSTALLATION OF A BIKE SHELTER AT 45 DOWNSELL 
ROAD, REDDITCH, WORCESTERSHIRE

Applicant
Worcestershire County Council

Local Member
Mr R C Lunn and Mr B Clayton (Shared). 

Purpose of Report

1. To consider an application under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
Regulations 1992 for the proposed change of use from former children's home (Use 
Class C2) to family contact (Use Class D1) and office (Use Class B1), the 
construction of nine additional car parking spaces, one motorcycle space and 
installation of a bike shelter at Former Children's Home, 45 Downsell Road, Redditch, 
Worcestershire. 

Background

2. 45 Downsell Road is a property owned and operated by Worcestershire County 
Council (Children’s Families and Communities Directorate). The property has been 
used as a Children’s Home since the 1960s. 

3. The County Council's Children, Families and Communities Directorate (CFC) has  
transitioned  to Worcestershire Children’s First, a wholly owned company responsible 
for service delivery for Worcestershire County Council (WCC). As a consequence of 
this, the applicant (WCC) considers that 45 Downsell Road would be better suited to 
providing office accommodation for CFC staff (social workers and support staff) as 
well as accommodation for family contact workers for supervised family contact.

4. Family contact takes place when children are unable to see their family (parents, 
grandparents, extended family) without being supervised and supported by an 
independent person. Family contact is often court ordered and the local authority has 
a duty to provide safe and positive contact enabling families to spend quality time 
together. Overnight stays are not required.

Page 29



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

5. The proposed development originally applied for was the change of use from Use 
Class C2 former children's home to Use Class D1 Non Residential Institution and Use 
Class B1 Business (family contact and office accommodation), the construction of 8 
additional car parking spaces and installation of a bike shelter. In their comments, the 
County Highways Officer sought additional information from the applicant to 
demonstrate that the level of proposed car parking was appropriate. The application 
has been subsequently amended so that nine car parking spaces would be provided, 
in addition to the existing two car parking spaces, as well as a motorcycle space. 

6. To seek to address the concerns of the County Highways Officer, the applicant 
has sought to justify the levels of parking as put forward within the submitted 
Transport Note. The applicant has also amended their proposal by now proposing 
permeable tarmac for the new parking spaces to allow rainwater to drain through the 
wearing surface, and has reduced the amount of office accommodation.

The Proposal

7. The County Council is seeking planning permission for the proposed change of 
use from former children's home (Use Class C2) to family contact (Use Class D1) and 
office (Use Class B1), the construction of nine additional car parking spaces, one 
motorcycle space and installation of a bike shelter at Former Children's Home, 45 
Downsell Road, Redditch, Worcestershire.

8. The proposed development would be a local hub for providing family contact 
services as well as being an operational base for social work teams dealing with 
vulnerable children within the north and east of the County (Redditch, eastern parts of 
Bromsgrove and northern Wychavon).

9. The applicant states that a strategic decision has been made, as part of a wider 
service development, to connect social care professionals with partners and early 
help services in the local area they serve, and to reduce travel time for staff enabling 
them to spend more time working directly with children and families.

10. The applicant has confirmed that the proposal would involve only minor 
alterations to convert rooms into family contact facilities on the ground floor and office 
accommodation on the first floor. The applicant is also proposing maintenance 
repairs, including replacement fascias and soffits, re-decoration, new energy efficient 
lighting and new additional data and power wiring. 

11. It is proposed that there would be two social working teams consisting of 16 
members of staff in total and three family contact workers. The ethos would be agile / 
flexible working and therefore the numbers of staff on site would fluctuate according 
to other commitments such as meetings elsewhere (i.e. at client’s homes, and 
homeworking). Staff would spend a good deal of time working in the field visiting 
clients. There are also various other operational hubs around the County. Staff would 
therefore be likely to choose to base themselves at whichever location would be 
closest to their clients. The applicant states that social workers would only spend 
about 30% of their time at 45 Downsell Road. For each team, a Team Manager and 
Business Support Officer would be based at the property for most of the working 
week. The applicant has also clarified that the family contact officers would spend 

Page 30



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

approximately 90% of their time at the Downsell Road premises, although there would 
be instances where the family contact session may be held off site elsewhere.

12. The proposal includes the provision of three family contact rooms serviced by 
shared kitchen and toilet areas. The family members would report to family contact 
officers on site via the dedicated entrance. The family contact officers would then 
grant access to a dedicated living room environment (for that particular family). The 
living room environment would have within it soft seating as well as tables and chairs 
and families would also have access to the shared family contact kitchen and toilet 
facilities. Family contact officers can either be in the room during family contact 
sessions or on standby if required. Family contact sessions are risk assessed prior to 
sessions and the appropriate mitigation measures are put in place. These mitigation 
measures usually involve closer supervision rather than the introduction of panic 
alarms.

13. The current car parking arrangement for the site is a tarmac driveway at the rear 
(northern side) of the site. This car parking is accessed via a drop kerb on 
Lyndenwood and provides two formal car parking spaces albeit the applicant states 
that, historically, four smaller vehicles have been known to park there. 

14. The applicant is proposing to extend the current tarmac car parking area 
southwards, across part of the western side of the application site, which is currently 
grassed as well as accommodating one cherry tree. They propose providing nine 
additional car parking spaces for staff and visitors (which includes one space for an 
electric vehicle and a charging point) and a formal enclosed bin storage area.  The 
existing drop kerb is proposed to be extended from the current car parking area 
across the front of the proposed new spaces in order to provide suitable vehicular 
access from Lyndenwood. As a result of the proposed car parking, the cherry tree 
would be required to be felled.  A secure bicycle shelter for the parking of six bicycles 
is also proposed to the east of the site, on the former hard play area. 

15. The current tarmac car parking on site drains directly on to the road.  The 
proposed new parking spaces would be constructed using permeable tarmac, 
therefore, allowing rainwater to drain through the wearing surface. 

16.  The applicant has confirmed that there would be an increase in toilet provision 
on site, which would be connected to the existing foul sewage drainage.

17. The applicant has confirmed that the use of the building by office based staff 
would generally be between 09:00 to 17:00 hours Mondays to Fridays.  Operating 
hours for family contact would be between the hours of 08:00 and 20:00 hours 
Mondays to Fridays, with occasional Saturday use.  However, the majority of family 
contacts are between 09:00 and 18:30 hours Mondays to Fridays. 

The Site

18. The application site is situated within the Webheath residential area of Redditch, 
located approximately 2 kilometres broadly south-west of Redditch Town Centre. The 
surrounding area comprises residential properties to the north, south and west, and 
the hard play area of Webheath Academy Primary School to the east.

Page 31



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

19. The application site is roughly rectangular with the main entrance / front elevation 
(south side of the site) facing onto Downsell Road. The eastern side of the site 
contains the former Children’s Home hard play area. The rear of the property 
(northern side) contains former garages, which were converted into a meeting room 
and which back onto the side of access of the dwelling of 1 Lyndenwood. The 
western side of the building is sited on the residential road of Lyndenwood. The 
western side of the application site is predominately laid to grass with three trees and 
a small area used for bin storage and the tarmac driveway. 

20. The property is split into two areas. The first area and the majority of the property 
was for children, generally up to the age of 16 years old. This space has five 
children’s bedrooms, one staff bedroom, two bathrooms, one shower room / toilet, 
two toilets, kitchen, dining area, living room, games room, freezer room, laundry 
room, quiet / study room, manager’s office and general staff working areas. The 
second area was two semi-independent flats for older children between the ages of 
16 and 19 years old. The flats have a dedicated entrance from Downsell Road (front 
elevation) and have two separate bedrooms, shared kitchen, and shared shower 
room / toilet. 

21. There are a number of non-statutory wildlife designated sites within 2 kilometres 
of the application site, notably the Foxlydiate and Pitcher Oak Woods Local Wildlife 
Site (LWS) and Ancient Woodland is located approximately 315 metres north of the 
application site. Pitcher Oak Golf Course LWS is located about 825 metres broadly to 
the north-east of the application site. Brockhill Wood is located approximately 1.9 
kilometres broadly to the north of the application site. Southcrest Wood LWS and 
Oakenshaw Wood LWS are located approximately 1.7 kilometres and 1.8 kilometres, 
broadly to the east of the application site respectively. Downsell Wood LWS is located 
about 790 metres broadly to the south of the application site, beyond which is 
Walkwood Coppice LWS located about 1.3 kilometres south of the application site.  
Bow, Shell, Swan and Seeley Brooks LWS is located about 1.8 kilometres south-west 
of the application site. 

22. The development is located within Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding). 

Summary of Issues

23. The main issues in the determination of this application are:

 The location of the development
 Visual impact and residential amenity 
 Water environment 
 Ecology and biodiversity, and 
 Traffic and highway safety.

Planning Policy

National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF)
24. The revised National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) was updated on 19 
February 2019 and replaces the previous NPPF published in March 2012 and July 
2018. The NPPF and sets out the government’s planning policies for England and 
how these are expected to be applied. The revised NPPF is a material consideration 

Page 32



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

in planning decisions and should be read as a whole (including its footnotes and 
annexes). 

25. Annex 1 of the NPPF states that "the policies in this Framework are material 
considerations which should be taken into account in dealing with applications from 
the day of its publication". 

26. The NPPF states that the purpose of the planning system is to contribute to the 
achievement of sustainable development. Achieving sustainable development means 
that the planning system has three overarching objectives (economic, social and 
environmental), which are interdependent and need to be pursued in mutually 
supportive ways (so that opportunities can be taken to secure net gains across each 
of the different objectives).

 an economic objective – to help build a strong, responsive and competitive 
economy, by ensuring that sufficient land of the right types is available in the right 
places and at the right time to support growth, innovation and improved 
productivity; and by identifying and coordinating the provision of infrastructure; 

 a social objective – to support strong, vibrant and healthy communities, by 
ensuring that a sufficient number and range of homes can be provided to meet 
the needs of present and future generations; and by fostering a well-designed 
and safe built environment, with accessible services and open spaces that reflect 
current and future needs and support communities’ health, social and cultural 
well-being; and

 an environmental objective – to contribute to protecting and enhancing our 
natural, built and historic environment; including making effective use of land, 
helping to improve biodiversity, using natural resources prudently, minimising 
waste and pollution, and mitigating and adapting to climate change, including 
moving to a low carbon economy.

27. These objectives should be delivered through the preparation and 
implementation of plans and the application of the policies in the NPPF; they are not 
criteria against which every decision can or should be judged. Planning policies and 
decisions should play an active role in guiding development towards sustainable 
solutions, but in doing so should take local circumstances into account, to reflect the 
character, needs and opportunities of each area.

28. So that sustainable development is pursued in a positive way, at the heart of the 
NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable development. For decision taking, this 
means:

 approving development proposals that accord with an up-to-date development 
plan without delay; or 

 where there are no relevant development plan policies, or the policies which are 
most important for determining the application are out-of-date, granting 
permission unless: 

Page 33



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

o the application of policies in the NPPF that protect areas or assets of 
particular importance provides a clear reason for refusing the development 
proposed; or 

o any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably 
outweigh the benefits, when assessed against the policies in this 
Framework taken as a whole. 

29. The presumption in favour of sustainable development does not change the 
statutory status of the development plan as the starting point for decision making. 
Where a planning application conflicts with an up-to-date development plan (including 
any neighbourhood plans that form part of the development plan), permission should 
not usually be granted. Local planning authorities may take decisions that depart from 
an up-to-date development plan, but only if material considerations in a particular 
case indicate that the plan should not be followed. 

30. The following guidance contained in the NPPF, is considered to be of specific 
relevance to the determination of this planning application:

 Section 2: Achieving sustainable development
 Section 4: Decision-making
 Section 6: Building a strong, competitive economy
 Section 7: Ensuring the vitality of town centres
 Section 8: Promoting healthy and safe communities
 Section 9: Promoting sustainable transport
 Section 11: Making effective use of land
 Section 12: Achieving well-designed places
 Section 14: Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and coastal 

change
 Section 15: Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

The Development Plan
31. The Development Plan is the strategic framework that guides land use planning 
for the area.  In this respect, the current Development Plan that is relevant to this 
proposal consists of the adopted Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 (2017) and the 
adopted Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy (2012). 

32. Planning applications should be determined in accordance with the provisions of 
the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. The NPPF 
is a material consideration in planning decisions.

33. With regard to the weight to be given to existing policies adopted prior to the 
publication of the revised NPPF, Annex 1 states "existing policies should not be 
considered out-of-date simply because they were adopted or made prior to the 
publication of this Framework. Due weight should be given to them, according to their 
degree of consistency with this Framework (the closer the policies in the plan to the 
policies in the Framework, the greater the weight that may be given)". 

Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy 
34. The Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy policy that is relevance to the proposal 
is set out below: 

Page 34



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

Policy WCS 17 Making provision for waste in all new development 

Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4
35. The Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 policies that are of relevance to the 
proposal are set out below:

Policy 1 Presumption in Favour of Sustainable Development 
Policy 2 Settlement Hierarchy
Policy 3 Development Strategy
Policy 5 Effective and Efficient Use of Land 
Policy 15 Climate Change
Policy 16 Natural Environment 
Policy 17 Flood Risk Management 
Policy 18 Sustainable Water Management 
Policy 19 Sustainable Travel and Accessibility 
Policy 20 Transport Requirements for New Development 
Policy 22 Road Hierarchy 
Policy 25 Development Outside of Primarily Employment Areas
Policy 26 Office Development 
Policy 39 Built Environment 
Policy 40 High Quality Design and Safer Communities

Consultations

36. County Councillor Brandon Clayton is concerned with the amount of parking 
spaces allocated to this application and would be against these proposals in particular 
because of the parking problems that residents have been experiencing for many 
years in this area. This is demonstrated by the number of double yellow lines in the 
vicinity of the proposal.

37. Redditch Borough Council has no objections. They consider that the issues 
that need to be assessed are the suitability of the proposed use in this location; the 
effect of the proposal on the character and appearance of area, particularly in relation 
to the removal of the grass verge at front to create the proposed parking area; 
residential amenity; highways safety and parking implications; drainage implications; 
and the impact of the proposal on the trees and the biodiversity within the site.

38. Worcestershire Regulatory Services have no objections to the proposal in 
terms of any nuisance issues, but in order to minimise any noise, vibration and dust 
during the construction phase, the applicant should refer to the WRS Code of Best 
Practice for Demolition and Construction Sites and ensure its recommendations are 
complied with.

39. Worcestershire Wildlife Trust have no objections to the proposal, stating that 
they note the findings of the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal. There do not 
appear to be any overriding ecological constraints to the proposed change of use, 
and they wish to defer to the opinions of the County Ecologist for all on-site ecological 
matters.

Page 35



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

40. The County Ecologist has no objections to the proposal, subject to the 
imposition of a condition requiring bird boxes (sparrow terraces and house martin 
cups) being installed on the exterior of the building, as recommended in the submitted 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.

41. The County Landscape Officer has no objections to the proposal, given that the 
proposed works would not impose significant structural change to the existing building 
exterior view and its setting. Provision of additional parking and loss of the cherry 
tree, and amenity grass would impose a slight adverse visual impact to receptors 
adjacent to the site on Lyndenwood although this would not be out of character when 
assessed in the context of the suburban setting. While the visual impact resulting 
from the loss of the cherry tree and other vegetation cannot be directly mitigated, the 
County Landscape Officer recommends the applicant carries out some compensation 
planting within the amenity part of the site that borders Downsell Road. This could be 
a local variety of apple or pear, such as a Worcester black pear, pitmaston pineapple 
or similar. With regard to the proposed re-turfing, a simple swap from standard 
perennial rye to a more floristically diverse and low maintenance lawn turf such as 
Emorsgate EL1 would be welcomed. 

42. The County Highways Officer has no objection, noting that the application has 
been supported by an updated drawing and transport note which seeks to review the 
anticipated car parking demand and the opportunities which exist to access the site 
sustainably. The scope of the transport note was agreed in advance between the 
applicant and the County Highways Officer. The use results in a demand for 10 car 
parking spaces. Nine additional car parking spaces are to be provided in addition to 
the two existing car parking spaces, therefore providing a total of 11 car parking 
spaces, of which one would be an accessible space and one is reserved for electric 
vehicles. It is accepted that there would be some variation in the demand for spaces 
as the movement pattern of social works are difficult to predict. With this in mind a 
separate car parking survey has been provided to assess the available on street 
capacity. This confirms that there is a surge in demand around school arrival times, 
which is not unexpected. Thereafter, there is available space to absorb these 
variations within the existing highway without affecting safety and it is not considered 
that this proposal requires the provision of any on street parking restrictions. 
However, this situation can be monitored and if deemed necessary, the County 
Councillor could promote a traffic regulation order. It is not considered that this is 
necessary to implement a restriction at this stage. A condition is sought to ensure that 
the proposed accessible space is provided within the area of proposed parking that 
would be closer to the ramped entrance to the building. This may require a street 
lighting column to be relocated. The County Highways Officer concludes that there 
would not be a severe impact and therefore there are no justifiable grounds on which 
an objection could be maintained. 

43. The County Archaeologist has no objections to the proposal. 

44. North Worcestershire Water Management have no objections, stating that the 
proposal is located within Flood Zone 1 (low risk of river flooding) and has a low 
surface water flood risk according to the Environment Agency’s Surface Water Flood 
Map.  They have also confirmed that they do not have any records of flooding located 
at or near to the site.  The proposal does not affect the building footprint, but 
proposes nine additional hardstanding car parking areas which may increase run off.  
Additional drainage should be put in to accommodate these additional car parking 

Page 36



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

spaces.  Gullies should be positioned on the low spot for water to drain into before 
connecting to the existing drainage system.   The change of use may be an 
opportunity to accommodate SuDS measures which are required in Policy 17 of the 
Borough of Redditch Local Plan, these could include but are not restricted to porous 
paving, a sub-base for attenuation under the new parking bay or rain gardens. Given 
the low flood risk to the site and nature of the development, they do not deem it 
necessary to attach a drainage condition.

45. Severn Trent Water Limited have no objections to the proposal,  as there is no 
new proposal to connect to the public sewerage system.

46. Hereford & Worcester Fire and Rescue Service has not made any comments 
 
47. West Mercia Police have no objections. 

Other Representations

48. The application has been advertised on site and by neighbour notification. To 
date, three letters of representation have been received commenting on the proposal. 
These letters of representation are available in the Members' Support Unit. Their main 
comments are summarised below:

Traffic and Highway Safety
 Comments that they experience many problems with car parking along 

Lyndenwood due to parents bringing children to the two schools in 
Downsell Road. They comment it is almost impossible to get into and out of 
Lyndenwood during school pick up and drop off hours as Lyndenwood is 
well used by parents for parking. Over the years this problems has 
escalated due to the extra houses that have been built. The parents park 
on the pavements, green areas and often block residents' driveways. 
Lyndenwood is totally elderly residents who are vulnerable. On occasions 
parking along Lyndenwood has prevented ambulances from driving along 
Lyndenwood. They do not mind the proposed additional parking, but 
considers that Lyndenwood should be restricted to resident parking only to 
ease the current situation.

 Considers that revised plans are worse than the original application 
submission due to the need for more parking for cars and motorbike and 
concerned about where these would go. Also, they comment that with the 
problems from parking from the schools as well as staff from WCC, this 
would mean more chaos. They would like Lyndenwood to be made 
residents parking only, due to the number of local residents being 
vulnerable elderly residents. 

 Does not object to the use of the building, but as her bungalow is located 
opposite the proposal she concerned that the proposed car park would 
mean that people would park the road. The road is narrow and she has 
problems getting to her drive. She has two schools either side and parking 
is horrendous. Ambulance and dial a ride have difficulty accessing 
bungalows as it is. Considers that double yellow lines on road opposite 
might be a solution.

Page 37



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy's Comments

49. As with any planning application, this application should be determined in 
accordance with the provisions of the Development Plan unless material 
considerations indicate otherwise. The relevant policies and key issues have been set 
out earlier.

Location of the Development
50. The NPPF seeks to direct office accommodate to town centre locations. Section 
7 of the NPPF states planning policies and decisions should support the role that 
town centres play at the heart of local communities, by taking a positive approach to 
their growth, management and adaptation.  Planning policies should allocate a range 
of suitable sites in town centres to meet the scale and type of development likely to 
be needed, looking at least ten years ahead. The NPPF goes onto states that where 
suitable and viable town centre sites are not available for main town centre uses 
(offices are considered to be a main town centre use), allocate appropriate edge of 
centre sites that are well connected to the town centre. If sufficient edge of centre 
sites cannot be identified, policies should explain how identified needs can be met in 
other accessible locations that are well connected to the town centre. 

51. Paragraph 86 of the NPPF states that "local planning authorities should apply a 
sequential test to planning applications for main town centre uses which are neither in 
an existing centre nor in accordance with an up-to-date plan. Main town centre uses 
should be located in town centres, then in edge of centre locations; and only if 
suitable sites are not available (or expected to become available within a reasonable 
period) should out of centre sites be considered".

52. The introduction to Policy 26: 'Office Development' of the Adopted Borough of 
Redditch Local Plan No.4 states that "the Borough Council aims to create a Borough 
where businesses have the opportunity to thrive and the Office Development policy 
offers a strategy towards meeting this aspiration. Whist Town Centres are ideal 
locations for office development; Redditch Town Centre may not offer the most 
appropriate location for all office-based businesses to thrive in Redditch.  Different 
businesses have different needs and priorities; therefore, this policy provides some 
flexibility in order that business opportunities elsewhere in the Borough are not 
stifled".

53. Policy 25 of the Adopted Borough of Redditch Local Plan No.4 relates to 
development outside of Primarily Employment Areas, such as in this instance. This 
Policy states "sites within the urban area other than those within designated Primarily 
Employment Areas may be suitable for economic development, redevelopment or 
change of use. Within the Redditch urban area the economic development proposals 
should:

i. be in close proximity to suitable transport routes and services;
ii. have regard to the scale and nature of the travel demand across all modes likely 

to be generated;
iii. be accessible from existing residential areas by all appropriate modes of 

transport and are not dependant upon access by private transport, where amenity 
is not negatively affected;

iv. be acceptable in terms of impact on the wider environment; and

Page 38



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

v. demonstrate the provision of adequate infrastructure including Green 
Infrastructure required to support the proposal".

54. The Reasoned Justification to this policy states "economic development (which 
includes offices), redevelopment or change to employment use in locations that are 
not designated Primarily Employment Areas as identified on the Policies Map, may be 
appropriate where it does not have an adverse impact on the surrounding area". 

55. The applicant states that the proposal would become a local hub for providing 
family contact services as well as being an operational base for social working teams 
dealing with vulnerable children within the north and east of the County (Redditch, 
eastern parts of Bromsgrove and northern Wychavon).

56. The strategic decision has been made as part of a wider service development to 
connect social care professionals with partners and early help services in the local 
area they serve and to reduce travel time for staff enabling them to spend more time 
working directly with children and families. 

57. The family contact team and social workers work closely together to support 
families. Enabling these teams to be co-located promotes opportunity for formal and 
informal discussion and information sharing between staff and as such improved joint 
working.

58. The applicant states that family contact centres are deliberately sited within 
residential areas as opposed to city or town centres. The family contact team work 
with vulnerable children and families, and for some of these families it is neither safe 
nor appropriate to facilitate these family time sessions within a city or town centre.  
Family contact within a residential setting not only provides a higher level of privacy 
for families using the service, it also assists in a more relaxed and where possible, 
more natural environment for them.  For some children, this controlled environment 
provides them with the security they need and the knowledge that they are safe.

59. Furthermore, the applicant states that the site's location and transport links 
makes Downsell Road an accessible facility for families and carers, and is ideal in 
terms of reach for these areas as social workers would be able to quickly access 
these areas via the A448.  There are local bus services, with a frequency of up to 
every 30 minutes, which run close to the site and serve Redditch and Kidderminster, 
which the applicant has confirmed would be the primary catchment areas for families. 
Conversely, a town centre location would potentially create delays in travelling around 
the county or attending urgent enquiries, particularly at peak times.  

60. The Downsell Road operational hub is to complement other operational hubs 
within Bromsgrove, Kidderminster and Evesham and also touch point offices in 
Malvern and Droitwich that cover the remaining areas of Worcestershire. CFC  
administrative / back office teams including Finance, Human Resources etc. would be 
based within central accommodation at County Hall, Worcester.  

61. Redditch Borough Council have been consulted and have raised no objections to 
the proposal. 

Page 39



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

62. In view of the above, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers 
that in this instance the proposal would be appropriately located to serve the needs 
and priorities of the service.  

Visual Impact and Residential Amenity
63. The applicant is only proposing minor maintenance works and repairs to the 
exterior of the building, which includes replacement fascias and soffits. However, the 
applicant is proposing extending the existing parking arrangements on site, which 
would require the felling of an ornamental cherry tree. 

64. The County Landscape Officer has been consulted and has asked for a 
replacement tree to be considered and for a low maintenance and more floristically 
diverse lawn turf to be considered. The applicant has confirmed that the planting of a 
replacement ornamental cherry tree or similar would be acceptable and that they will 
consider the re-turfing alternative. These matters can be controlled through the 
imposition of a suitable condition. 

65. With regard to noise impacts, the applicant states that the proposal would be for 
predominantly office workers with children only attending the site as part of a family 
contact arrangement. The building is detached. Furthermore, the applicant states that 
the operating hours for family contact would be between the hours of 08:00 to 20:00 
with the majority of family contacts being between 09:00 and 18:30 inclusive rather 
than the previous 24 hours a day, seven days per week usage when the building was 
used as a children’s home. 

66. Worcestershire Regulatory Services have been consulted and have raised no 
objections to the proposal in terms of any nuisance issues (noise, dust, odour, 
vibration).

67. In view of the above matters, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy 
considers that the proposal would not have an adverse or detrimental impact upon 
the character and appearance of the local area or residential amenity. 

Water Environment
68. The proposed development is within Flood Zone 1 (low probability of flooding), as 
identified on the Environment Agency's Indicative Flood Risk Map. The Government's 
Planning Practice Guidance (PPG) identifies that all uses of land are appropriate 
within this zone.

69. The applicant is proposing to extend the current tarmac car parking area 
southwards, across the grassed area along the western side of the application site in 
order to provide nine additional car parking spaces. The applicant states that the 
current tarmac car parking area on site drains directly onto the road (Lyndenwood). 
The proposed new parking spaces would be constructed using permeable tarmac, as 
previously suggested by North Worcestershire Water Management, and it is 
recommended that a condition is imposed to this effect. The applicant has also 
confirmed that there would be an increase in toilet provision on site, which would be 
connected to the existing foul sewage drainage. 

70. There is no objection from Severn Trent Water Limited. In view of this, the Head 
of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal would have no 

Page 40



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

adverse effects on the water environment, subject to the imposition of an appropriate 
condition. 

Ecology and Biodiversity
71. There are a number of non-statutory designated wildlife sites within two 
kilometres of the proposal, the nearest of which is the Foxlydiate and Pitcher Oak 
Woods LWS and Ancient Woodland, which is located approximately 315 metres north 
of the proposal.

72. The application was accompanied by a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal, which 
concludes that there are no obvious or immediate issues for the proposed works with 
regard to protected species and no further dedicated surveys for any species are 
required.  However, in the unlikely event that protected species are found during the 
construction works, all works must cease immediately and the advice of a suitably 
qualified and experienced ecologist obtained and followed.  The appraisal 
recommends bird nesting opportunities for house sparrows and house martins should 
be provided in the form of sparrow terraces and house martin cups on the exterior 
walls of the building.

73. Due to the proximity to LWSs, Worcestershire Wildlife Trust have been consulted. 
They have not raised any objections to the proposal and have deferred to the 
opinions of the County Ecologist for all on site ecological matters.  The County 
Ecologist has no objections, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions reflecting 
the recommendations of the submitted Preliminary Ecological Appraisal.

74. In light of the above, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers 
that, subject to the imposition of an appropriate condition, the proposed development 
would have no adverse impacts on the ecology and biodiversity at the site or in the 
surrounding area, and would enhance the application site’s value for biodiversity.

Traffic and Highway Safety
75. Paragraph 109 of the NPPF states "development should only be prevented or 
refused on highways grounds if there would be an unacceptable impact on highway 
safety, or the residual cumulative impacts on the road network would be severe". 

76. The applicant is seeking to provide a total of nine formal car parking spaces (11 if 
parking on the existing driveway is included), which includes a space for electric 
vehicle charging. The applicant would also provide parking for six bicycles. The 
applicant states that the ethos would be agile / flexible working, therefore, the 
numbers of staff on site would fluctuate according to other commitments such as 
meetings elsewhere (i.e. visiting client’s homes, and homeworking). The applicant 
states that they would seek to promote car sharing and the use of public transport 
wherever possible, and they are considering options such as being able to book 
rooms and car park spaces in advance of staff attending the site. 

77. The service would continue to consider these options but they originated from the 
building having a much greater occupancy. The transport assessment and travel 
plan based on the revised reduced occupancy levels now negates the need for this 
as it has been demonstrated the number of spaces proposed for the site would be 
adequate without the need for additional parking on the highway. 

Page 41



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

78. The revised Transport Note (September 2019) contains data to aid an 
understanding of the existing baseline conditions and what the future travel demand 
will be associated with the proposals. This leads to the identification of any necessary 
measures arising from the impact of the change of use. 

79. A two-day parking survey was undertaken on Monday 9 and Tuesday 10 
September 2019 to evidence current on-street conditions. This covered Heathfield 
Road, Lyndenwood and Downsell Road and including considering parking stress, 
which is a calculation to consider the number of parked vehicles as a percentage of 
available parking for each parking type. Stress can be over 100% if cars are small 
and/or parked very closely together; The key findings of the analysis showed that: 

 Heathfield Road peaks at 91% capacity at 08:30;
 Downsell Road peaks at 77% capacity at 08:30; 
 Lyndenwood peaks at 45% capacity at 08:30, and 
 After 08:30 demand declines and the demand profile is similar to the previous 

weekday. 

80. The revised Transport Note therefore references that Lyndenwood does not 
experience high levels of on street parking. This is a situation which the development 
proposal seeks to maintain by the provision of adequate on-site car parking and the 
provision of a robust travel plan.

81. A number of neighbours have concerns about parking in the vicinity of the site. 
The County Highways Officer has been consulted. Whilst they recognise that there 
may be some short term vehicle displacement onto the network, as set out earlier in 
this report, they conclude that there would not be a severe impact on the highway 
and, therefore, there are no justifiable grounds on which an objection could be 
maintained. While the analysis shows that there would be sufficient parking capacity 
throughout the day, the applicant has stated that team meetings would be likely to be 
arranged outside of school drop off and pick up times to help reduce the impact on 
the highway. 

82. In light of the above, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied 
that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon traffic or highway 
safety, subject to the imposition of appropriate conditions. 

Other Matters
Crime and Safety
83. West Mercia Police have been consulted and have no objections to the proposal. 
In view of this, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the 
proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon crime and antisocial 
behaviour.

Bin storage and recycling 
84. The applicant has stated that the proposed development would continue to use 
both a large general waste and a large recycling bin, which would be located within 
the new bin store being constructed on site. This can be controlled subject to the 
imposition of an appropriate condition. They have also confirmed that smaller bins 
would be provided throughout the building to separate what is general and recyclable 

Page 42



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

waste and these would be emptied into the appropriate external bin by the cleaning 
team.

Conclusion

85. Worcestershire County Council is seeking planning permission for the proposed 
change of use from former children's home (Use Class C2) to family contact (Use 
Class D1) and office (Use Class B1), the construction of nine additional car parking 
spaces, one motorcycle space and installation of a bike shelter at Former Children's 
Home, 45 Downsell Road, Redditch, Worcestershire.

86. The proposed development would be a local hub for providing family contact 
services as well as being an operational base for social working teams dealing with 
vulnerable children within the north and east of the County (Redditch, eastern parts of 
Bromsgrove and northern Wychavon).

87. The applicant states that the family contact team and social workers work closely 
together to support families. Enabling these teams to be co-located promotes 
opportunity for formal and informal discussion and information sharing between staff 
and as such improved joint working. Its location and transport links makes Downsell 
Road an accessible facility for families and carers, and is ideal in terms of reach for 
these areas as social workers would be able to quickly access these areas via the 
A448. A town centre location would potentially create delays in accessing other 
places in the County or attending urgent enquiries, particularly at peak times.  

88. In view of the above, the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy considers 
that in this instance the proposal would be appropriately located to serve the needs 
and priorities of the service and would not have an adverse impact on the surrounding 
area.

89. The County Landscape Officer has raised no objections to the proposal, and 
minimal changes are proposed to the exterior of the building, with the key changes 
being the extension of the car parking area and removal of a cherry tree. In view of 
this, it is considered that the proposal would not have an adverse or detrimental 
impact upon the character and appearance of the local area or residential amenity. 

90. North Worcestershire Water Management and Severn Trent Water Limited have 
both raised no objections. It is considered that the proposal would have no adverse 
effects on the water environment, subject to the imposition of an appropriate condition 
regarding the car park extension to be permeable tarmac. 

91. Based on the advice of the County Ecologist and Worcestershire Wildlife Trust, it 
is considered that subject to the imposition of an appropriate condition that the 
proposed development would have no adverse impacts on the ecology and 
biodiversity at the site or in the surrounding area, and would enhance the application 
site’s value for biodiversity.

92. Based on the advice of the advice from the County Highways Officer, the Head of 
Strategic Infrastructure and Economy is satisfied that the proposal would not have an 
unacceptable impact upon traffic or highway safety, subject to the imposition of 
appropriate conditions. 

Page 43



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

93. Taking into account the provisions of the Development Plan and in particular 
Policy WCS 17 of the adopted Worcestershire Waste Core Strategy and Policies 1, 2, 
3, 5, 15, 16, 17, 18, 19, 20, 22, 25, 26, 39 and 40 of the adopted Borough of Redditch 
Local Plan No.4, it is considered the proposal would not cause demonstrable harm to 
the interests intended to be protected by these policies, or highway safety. 

Recommendation
94. The Head of Strategic Infrastructure and Economy recommends that planning 
permission be granted for the proposed change of use from former children's home 
(Use Class C2) to family contact (Use Class D1) and office (Use Class B1), the 
construction of nine additional car parking spaces, one motorcycle space and 
installation of a bike shelter at Former Children's Home, 45 Downsell Road, Redditch, 
Worcestershire, subject to the following conditions: 

 
a) The development hereby permitted must be begun not later than the 

expiration of three years beginning with the date of this permission;

b) The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 
with the following approved plans 45DR-SP01, 45DR-BP01, 45DR-Ext 01 
Rev A, 45DR-Ext 02, 45DR-PFF 01 Rev A and 45DR-PGF 01 Rev A, 
except where otherwise stipulated by conditions attached to this 
permission;

c) Construction works shall only be carried out on the site between 08:00 
to 18:00 hours on Mondays to Fridays inclusive, and 08:00 to 13:00 
hours on Saturdays, with no construction work on Sundays, Public or 
Bank Holidays;

d) All existing trees, shrubs and hedgerows indicated to be retained shall 
be protected by suitable fencing in accordance with BS5837:2012. No 
materials shall be stored, no rubbish dumped, no fires lit and no 
buildings erected inside the fence. In the event of any trees, shrub or 
hedgerows being damaged or removed by the development, they shall 
be replaced in the next planting season;

e) All vegetation clearance at the site shall be undertaken outside the bird 
nesting season which generally extends between March and September 
inclusive. If this is not possible then any vegetation that is to be 
removed or disturbed should be checked by an experienced ecologist 
for nesting birds immediately prior to works commencing. If birds are 
found to be nesting any works which may affect them would have to be 
delayed until the young have fledged and the nest has been abandoned 
naturally; 

f) Notwithstanding the submitted details, prior to the development being 
brought into use, details of replacement new turf and tree, including 
their location shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority for 
approval in writing. The approved scheme shall be implemented within 
the first available planting season (the period between 31 October in 
any one year and 31 March in the following year) on completion of the 
development. Should the replacement tree die, be removed, damaged or 

Page 44



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

diseased within a period of five years from the completion of the 
planting, it shall be replaced on an annual basis, in the next planting 
season with a tree of a similar size and species;

g) Within one month of the completion of the development, details 
describing the specifications and locations of sparrow terraces and 
house martin cups shall be submitted to the County Planning Authority 
for approval in writing. Following approval, the terraces and cups shall 
be installed within three months and thereafter so retained;

h) Notwithstanding the submitted details, the position of the accessible 
parking, electric vehicle parking and motorcycle parking shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the County Planning Authority.
The development shall not be brought into use until the approved 
details have been implemented and thereafter so retained; 

i) The development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 
one electric vehicle charging space has been provided in accordance 
with a specification which shall be submitted to and approved by the 
County Planning Authority. Thereafter, such spaces and power points 
shall be kept available and maintained for the use of electric vehicles as 
approved;

j) No construction of the parking spaces extension, as shown on Drawing 
Numbered: 45DR-Ext 01 Rev A, shall take place until details of all 
surfacing materials, which shall be a permeable surface  for the new 
parking spaces, have been submitted to and approved in writing by the 
County Planning Authority. Thereafter, the development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the approved details and thereafter so retained;

k) The Development hereby approved shall not be brought into use until 
the access, parking and turning facilities have been provided as shown 
on drawing 45DR-EXT01 Rev A;

l) The travel plan shall be implemented in accordance with the agreed 
details which have been registered with Modeshift STARS Business;

m) Notwithstanding the submitted details, the development shall not be 
brought into use until details of the bin storage, including provision for 
recycling, are submitted to the County Planning Authority for approval 
in writing. The approved details shall then be implemented and 
thereafter so retained; and 

n) No more than 277 sq. m of the total gross floorspace of the 
development hereby approved shall be used as floorspace within Use 
Class B1.

Contact Points
County Council Contact Points
County Council: 01905 763763

Page 45



Planning and Regulatory Committee – 22 October 2019

Worcestershire Hub: 01905 765765

Specific Contact Points for this report
Case Officer: John Spurling, Principal Planner, Development Management:
Tel: 01905 846809  
Email: jspurling@worcestershire.gov.uk

Steven Aldridge, Team Manager – Development Management 
Tel: 01905 843510
Email: saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk

Background Papers
In the opinion of the proper officer (in this case the Head of Strategic Infrastructure and 
Economy) the following are the background papers relating to the subject matter of this 
report:

The application, plans and consultation replies in file reference 19/000020/REG3.

Page 46

mailto:jspurling@worcestershire.gov.uk
mailto:saldridge@worcestershire.gov.uk


© Crown copyright and  
database rights 2019

Ordnance Survey 100024230.

0 50 250 500 metres

Countryside Service
Worcester Woods Country Park

Indicative Scale: 1:10,000 Wildwood Drive
Worcester

Date Printed:25/9/2019 WR5 2LG

The Site

P
age 47



T
his page is intentionally left blank



© Crown copyright
and  database rights

2019
Ordnance Survey 100024230.

0 10 50 100 metres

Countryside Service
Worcester Woods Country
ParkIndicative Scale: 1:1,250

Wildwood Drive
Worcester

Date Printed:24/9/2019 WR5 2LG

Planning application made under Regulation 3 of the Town and Country Regulations 1992 for the proposed change of 
use from C2 former children's home to D1 Non Residential Institution and B1 Business (office accommodation with 
family contact), the construction of nine additional car parking spaces, one motorcycle space and installation of a bike 
shelter at Former Children's Home, 45 Downsell Road, Redditch, Worcestershire. 

The Site

P
age 49



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Planning Application made under Section 73 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) to vary condition 2 of planning permission: 14/000045/CM "Proposed extension to existing Waste Transfer Station Building" to amend the design of the building extension and omission of the proposed  2 metre high wall at Digaway and Clearaway Ltd, Grove House Yard, Tewkesbury Road, Upton-Upon-Severn, Worcestershire
	PR 2019 10 22 Grove House Yard - Plan 1
	Slide Number 1

	PR 2019 10 22 Grove House Yard - Plan 2
	Slide Number 1

	PR 2019 10 22 Grove House Yard - Plan 3
	Sheets
	A101 - Unnamed



	6 Proposed change of use from C2 former Children's home to D1 non-residential institution (family contact) and B1 business  (office), the construction of nine additional car parking spaces, one motorcycle space and installation of a bike shelter at 45 Downsell Road, Redditch, Worcestershire
	PR 2019 10 22 Downsell Road - Plan 1
	PR 2019 10 22 Downsell Road - Plan 2


